2009

Kathy J. Baum v. Michael Hayes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103 (2008) and Rules 3 and 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the trial court on remand abuse its discretion by revising the award of alimony and child support in the Amended Decree, without making specific findings of clear error or a compelling reason for such changes, thus violating the law of the case?

Standard of Review: The standard of review for the law of the case is abuse of discretion. In re E.H., 2004 UT App 419 (Utah App. 2006).

II. Did the trial court on remand fail to follow the mandate of the appellate court by not making specific findings of fact?

Standard of Review: The proper standard of review for challenges brought under the law of the case doctrine is abuse of discretion. In re E.H., 2004 UT App 419 (Utah App. 2006). The mandate of an appellate court binds the district and the parties and affords the district court no discretion whether to comply with that mandate. IHC Health Servs., Inc., v. D & K Mgmt., 2008 UT 73, ¶ 28, 196 P.3d 588 (Utah 2008). Consequently, because the mandate is a legal determination, reviewing whether the district

court complied with the mandate presents a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *See Amax Magnesium Corp. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 874 P.2d 840, 842 (Utah 1994).

III. Did the trial court on remand abuse its discretion in calculating child support by including Appellant's second or supplemental income?

Standard of Review: The standard of review for child support calculations is abuse of discretion. *Reinhart v. Reinhart*, 962 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah App 1998).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES and ORDINANCES AT ISSUE

- There are no Constitutional Provisions at Issue.

- Statutes at issue include:

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(2)

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(8)

Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(2), now U.C.A. § 78B-12-203(2)

- There are no Ordinances at issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case

This is an action for divorce. Specifically, the issues to be reviewed in this case relate to alimony and child support.

Course of Proceedings

A bench trial was held on March 5 and 6, 2007. The court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law on May 24, 2007. The Petitioner appealed the original findings and Decree. On October 23, 2008 the Appellate Court remanded the case to the trial court instructing the trial court to make specific findings regarding Petitioner/Appellee's financial needs and the rationale for excluding the Walden University salary from Appellant's income in calculating alimony. The trial court on remand entered Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on September 2, 2009. The Amended Decree of Divorce was entered on November 9, 2009. Appellant filed his notice of Appeal on December 9, 2009.

Disposition of First Trial

After a two-day trial, Judge Cornaby, sitting as a substitute judge, found Appellant has an income of \$6,250 per month. The court imputed the Appellee with the capacity to earn \$750 per month. After hearing testimony, the court concluded Appellee had inflated her monthly needs. The court awarded \$1,200 alimony, \$565 per month in child support, one-half of Appellee's 401K, and one-half of the Sky miles. The court ordered that the parties share joint legal custody of the minor child with Appellee awarded physical custody. The court made orders pertaining to parent time. The court

concluded that Appellee had received 85% of the contents of the parties marital home and awarded each person the property in their possession. Appellant was ordered to pay Appellee \$951 representing one-half of the 2004 tax return and \$5,655 to Appellee for her moving expenses. The court allocated the fee of the guardian ad litem between the parties. The parties were each responsible for the debts in their own name and the debts each assumed upon their separation. The Appellee had improperly transferred her investment account of approximately \$29,000.00 into an irrevocable trust for the minor child, the court, nonetheless, left those funds for the child's benefit. The parties were each responsible for their own attorneys fees. Appellee moved the court to amend its findings of fact and conclusions of law and/or for a new trial on the issues of child support, alimony and the property division. The court denied the motion. Appellee then filed for an appeal.

Disposition in the Appellate Court

The Appellate court was presented with two issues first that the trial court's findings are insufficient to support its award of alimony, and second whether the trial court erred when it found Appellant's current income to be \$6,250 per month instead of approximately \$8,000 a month. The court was unable to review the appropriateness of the amount of alimony the trial court actually awarded because of insufficient findings. The court was also unable

to evaluate the issue of the Appellant's income about the excluded income from Walden University without supplemental findings. The case was then remanded to allow for more detailed findings concerning Appellee's financial needs and the rationale for excluding the Walden University salary from the calculation of Appellant's income.

Disposition of Trial Court on Remand

On remand, the trial court found that Appellee's financial needs were no less than \$3,715. The court made no comment on whether the financial needs were inflated or not. The court also imputed that Appellee had the earning capacity of \$750. The court then increased the amount of child support to \$700 per month, retroactive to March 1, 2007 and awarded Appellee alimony in the amount of \$2,475 per month retroactive to March 1, 2007. The court included the income from Walden University because Appellant's name "remained" on the website of the university. The court also stated that the Appellant's income needs to be a function of Appellant's historical earning capacity historically even though the income from the university had only been from the past two years. The court then established that Appellant's income was \$8,000 per month gross and \$6,000 per month net of taxes.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

(Appellant recites facts from the trial prior to remand as there was no additional testimony taken nor additional facts received through affidavit or other sworn statements by the trial court on remand.)

Kathy J. Baum (Appellee) and Michael T. Hayes (Appellant) were married on September 11, 1987. R 1, 36. They are the parents of one child born April 18, 1992. R 2, 36. Appellee filed this action for divorce on October 4, 2004. R1.

Facts in the Record Relating to Appellee's Needs.

At the time of trial, Appellee reported monthly needs of \$4,924 and requested monthly support in the amount of \$4,941. R 5, 68. Her initial financial declaration reported monthly expenses of \$3,191. R 26. The initial financial declaration filed October 21, 2004 reports Appellee's total debt to be \$22,876 with monthly payments on the debt of \$501. R 22. Appellee's monthly payments on debt do not equal her reported total monthly installments reported to be \$555. R 25.

On or about August 30, 2005, Appellee filed a second financial statement reporting additional debt, primarily incurred to her mother, in the amount of \$63,960.36. R 168, 169. The amended debt includes \$26,000 in attorney's fees and \$26,000 to pay off credit cards. R 168. The \$26,000

credit card debt reflects an increase of \$8,263 over the \$17,737 credit card debt reported in October 2004, less than one year earlier. R 169.

The trial court heard testimony that Appellee is living in a home owned by a trust established for the benefit of the family members. R 591, 168. Appellee has not paid any rent or mortgage payments on the home with the exception of one payment in 2004. Id. Her mother has purchased homes for the other siblings in the family. Id.

The court concluded that “many” of the expenses listed were “ideal monthly expenses” rather than “actual monthly expenses.” R 592, 339. For example, Appellee seeks \$1,800 a year for home maintenance. R 591, 169. Appellee testified she has someone to help her with the yard work, including law mowing, fertilizing the lawn, and repairing sprinklers. Id. Appellant seeks \$800 a month for taxes. R591, 170. Appellee testified that in 2005, her federal tax burden was “zero.” Id. Her state tax burden for 2005 was \$130 for the year. Id. Appellee could not adequately explain the \$4,900 she reportedly requires for prescriptions. R 591, 171-172.

Despite being unemployed, Appellee “gets her clothes dry cleaned” requiring costs of approximately \$50 per month. R 591, 171. Appellee does not have a car payment but owns a 2002 Toyota 4-Runner which is unencumbered. R 591, 207.

Facts in the Record Pertaining to Appellant's Ability to Pay.

Appellant is an associate professor at Washington State University. R 591, 203. He has an annual salary of \$66,600. R 591, 204. Appellant can “count on” one or two credit hour courses to teach, earning an additional \$4,800 during the school's summer schedule. R 591, 204. One year, Appellant earned approximately \$3,000 because he had an administrative load. R 591, 93.

Appellant has supplemented his income from a second job. Continuing to work at a supplemental position threatens his full time employment. Id. To become a full professor, he is required to maintain a high level of academic work and publication. Id. If he continued to work at the second job, e would not be able to meet his requirements to become a full professor. R 591, 204.

Appellant received a tax refund for the year ending 2004. R 591, 93. Appellant applied the \$1,906 refund towards a marital property tax bill the parties were unable to pay. R 591, 93.

In 2006, Appellant received grant money and was given extra administrative duties which contributed to a one-time increase in his yearly income of approximately \$18,000. R 591, 94. That money is not regularly available. R 591, 94-95. The evidence adduced at trial was that Appellant's

supplemental income was not consistent, but based upon available grants, assignments of administrative duties, and the availability of additional courses. The court imputed additional income to Appellant in the amount of \$8,400 per year from summer or part time work. R 592, 339.

After mandatory deductions, Appellant has approximately \$3,900 a month available income. R 591, 206. He has assumed responsibility for a majority of the marital credit card debt and is paying off a loan to Appellee's mother, resulting in a monthly installment bill of \$740. R 591, 206. He is making a car payment. R 591, 207. His retirement account has a balance of \$64,000. R 591, 208.

Appellant's monthly budget is approximately \$2,400. R 591, 210. He has had a temporary child support obligation of \$610 per month and \$1350 per month for temporary alimony. R 591, 205. Appellant's monthly expenses, his child support obligation and his temporary alimony obligation total \$4360, resulting in a monthly income shortfall of \$360.

Facts Pertaining to the Parties' Financial Contribution During the Course of the Marriage.

Appellee contends that for the nine years of marriage, from 1987 until 1996, she contributed significantly more to the couples' finances, earning together from \$28,995 up to \$86,666 a year. R 591, 166. Between 1997 and

2003, while Appellee was not employed, the family relied on the income earned by Appellant in addition to savings, investments and retirement funds acquired by Appellee during the course of the marriage, through her employment, and through her personal inheritance. During that same period of time, Appellant's earning totaled approximately \$290,000. Id. During that second half of the marriage. Appellee did not work nor did she actively seek employment. R 103.

The parties' living expenses while married and living together were more than the income available through Appellant's income. R 591, 166. Appellee would, as needed over the years, sell assets including stock she received from her employer during the course of the marriage, to supplement the family's income. R 591, 166. Appellee and Appellant were functioning "as so many marriages do." R 592, 340. By the time the parties separated, they were insolvent. R 591, 167.

The court found that many of the credit card entries had accumulated since separation of the parties and cited that fact as a reason for the court's ruling. R 592, 343.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court abused its discretion on remand by dramatically changing the alimony award and child support award. To make such a

change the trial court would have to make detailed findings that the original trial court had made a clear error in its Decree of Divorce. The trial court on remand made no such findings. The trial court on remand further abused its discretion by including the income from Walden University solely because the Appellant's name was found to "remain" on the website of the university. Such a lack of findings as to clear error on the first trial court's findings do not support the trial court's findings on remand.

Additionally, the trial court on remand violated the mandate rule of law. The Appellate Court remanded the case with instructions to allow for more detailed findings concerning the Appellee's financial needs as well as a rationale for including or excluding the Appellant's income from Walden University. However, the trial court, on remand made no new findings or conclusions as to the financial needs of the Appellee other than what the previous trial court made. Also, the trial court, on remand went beyond evaluating the rationale for including the income of Walden University and instead focused on the expenditures of the Appellant. The issue of the Appellant's expenditures was not on remand. Thus, the trial court on remand went beyond the mandate of the Appellate Court.

Finally, the trial court on remand abused its discretion in considering the income from Walden University in computing child support. The statute

requires the court to consider income from the equivalent of one full-time 40-hour job. Instead, the trial court on remand included income from a second job. Even if the court can justify it, there must be adequate findings to do so. There were no findings of fact related to calculating the child support.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION ON REMAND BY DRAMATICALLY CHANGING THE ALIMONY AWARD AND CHILD SUPPORT AWARD WITHOUT FIRST MAKING SPECIFIC FINDINGS OF CLEAR ERROR OR EXPLAINING A COMPELLING REASON FOR THE NECESSITY OF MAKING SUCH A CHANGE.

The trial court on remand abused its discretion when it ruled on Appellee's award for alimony and on Appellant's historical income under the law of the case doctrine. A challenge to a judge's reversal of a ruling made by a predecessor judge is composed of two issues. The first is whether the reversal so offends the prudential practice of refusing to reopen matters that have already been decided that it cannot be sustained. *In re E.H.*, 137 P.3d 809, 816 (Utah 2006) *citing* *Messenger v. Anderson*, 225 U.S. 436, 444 (1912). The second issue in looking at a reversal of a prior order focuses on the nature of the matter decided. *Id.*

The first issue involves the law of the case doctrine. When a judge is presented with an issue identical to one which has already been passed upon by a coordinate judge in the same case that judge not allowed to arbitrarily

change the previous ruling unless a compelling reason exists. In the current case, the trial court on remand did not articulate a compelling reason to change the alimony amounts, it only made minimal findings concerning Appellee's financial needs.

The law of the case doctrine is a flexible principle and not an absolute limit on the court's power that rigidly binds a court to its former decisions. Gillmor v. Wright, 850 P.2d 431, 439 (Utah 1993). The court may change the ruling if a compelling reason exists to do so such as a prior mistake that needed to be fixed to avoid injustice. Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies, 884 P.2d 1306, 1311 (Utah App. 1994). Therefore, the trial court on remand should not depart from the law of the case to avoid relitigating decided issues and to conserve court resources unless a compelling reason exists. In re E.H., 103 P.3d 177 (Utah App. 2004).

In the current case, the appellate court stated that the trial court's "ultimate finding may be supportable" Baum v. Hayes, 196 P.3d 612, 615 (Utah App 2008). Thus, there was no assumption that the first trial court was wrong, only a request that there be adequate findings. The trial court on remand did not make any findings that there was a clear error on the part of the first trial court, nor did it make any findings to show either a clear mistake or a compelling reason for the previous trial court's rulings to be overturned.

It is also noteworthy that the judge who received the case on remand was not the same judge who originally heard the testimony. The trial court on remand did not have the benefit of “reading” the witnesses and weighing the evidence. While the appellate court will defer to the discretion of the trial court, the trial court on remand had no more advantage than the appellate court as it could only rely on the record previously made. This is particularly important to consider because an important issue in this case relates to the Appellee’s ability to work in light of her previous brain surgery. While the appellate court and the trial court on remand can read the record, they cannot observe the subtleties of Appellee’s demeanor.

In the current case, the trial court on remand made inadequate new findings about the Appellee’s financial needs and the court did not make any new detailed findings other than what was already discussed and discovered by the trial court.

Another indication that the trial court on remand abused its discretion is that its rationale for including the Walden University income as part of Appellant’s income in computing the alimony was that Appellant was still listed on the university’s website. This information was not part of the trial record. Rather this “fact” was presented to the court as Tab 9 attached to Petitioner’s Memorandum in Support of Motion for Entry of Supplemental

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The printout attached to the memorandum as Tab 9 indicates it was printed or produced on March 5, 2009. This court remanded the case to the trial court in its decision dated October 23, 2008. The trial court on remand made a specific finding that Appellant “remains listed as a member of the faculty of Walden University on its current website.” Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, page four, paragraph 11 (attached to this Brief).

Ironically, the trial court on remand made the same error committed by the first trial court: it failed to make adequate findings to support its decision.

THE TRIAL COURT ON REMAND FAILED TO FOLLOW THE MANDATE RULE OF LAW WHEN IT DID NOT MAKE MORE DETAILED FINDINGS CONCERNING APPELLEE’S FINANCIAL NEEDS AND WHEN IT WENT BEYOND EVALUATING THE RATIONALE FOR INCLUDING THE INCOME FROM WALDEN UNIVERSITY.

The second issue in looking at a challenge to a judge’s reversal of a ruling made by a predecessor judge focuses on the nature of the matter decided. In re E.H., 137 P.3d at 816. The mandate rule of the law of the case doctrine requires a trial court receiving a case by remand from the appellate court to stay within the bounds the appellate court sets. The trial court below is bound to follow the directions of the appellate court. See Thurston v. Box Elder County, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037-38(Utah 1995). In the current case, the

trial court did not follow the mandate of the appellate court to make a more detailed finding concerning Appellee's financial needs. Therefore, the court should vacate the second trial court's findings and conclusions and reinstate the first trial court's findings and conclusions of law.

The mandate rule applies to cases that have been appealed and remanded. However, when a case remains pending before the trial court prior to an appeal, the parties are bound by the court's prior decision, but the court remains free to reconsider that decision. IHC Health Servs., Inc., 2008 UT 73, ¶26. However, a trial court's power to reconsider decided issues is limited when the case has been appealed and remanded. Id. The mandate rule binds both the trial court and the parties to honor the mandate of the appellate court. Id. Thus, the decisions of an appellate court become the law of the case and cannot be reconsidered on remand. Id.

THE TRIAL COURT, ON REMAND DID NOT CONSIDER THE
REQUIRED FACTORS IN DETERMINING ALIMONY AS WAS
MANDATED BY THE APPELLATE COURT

In considering required factors to determine whether an award of alimony is appropriate in a divorce proceeding, the trial court is required to make adequate factual findings on all material issues, "unless the facts in the record are clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment." Rehn v. Rehn, 1999 UT App 41 ¶8, 974 P.2d 306.

The factors to be considered include (1) the financial needs and condition of the recipient spouse, (2) the ability of the recipient spouse to provide a sufficient income, and (3) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support. Id.

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