2009

Kathy J. Baum v. Michael Hayes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In determining Dr. Hayes' ability to pay, the trial court also properly considered his own reasonable needs, since his ability to pay depends in part on his own "needs and expenditures." *See Moon v. Moon*, 973 P.2d 431, 438 n.8 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). The trial court implicitly found reasonable Respondent's claimed after-tax needs, as set forth in his Financial Declaration, of \$2,369 per month. (*See* Exhibit 110, p. 5). Assuming a combined effective tax rate of 25% on his \$8,000 gross monthly income, and continued contributions to his retirement of \$456 per month, the trial court properly determined Dr. Hayes has an ability to pay of at least \$2,475 per month while still fully meeting his own claimed needs ($\$8,000 - (\$8,000 \times 25\%) - \$456 - \$2,369 - \$700 = \$2,475$). (*See* R. 776, ¶ 18).

The foregoing analysis, all of which was grounded in evidence presented to the trial court on remand, clearly demonstrates that Ms. Baum was properly awarded child support in the amount of \$700 per month, based on gross income of \$750 a month imputed to her and Respondent's gross income of \$8,000 per month. The receipt of child support, which is not taxable to Ms. Baum, reduces her total post-tax need to

\$2,265. Assuming a lower combined effective tax rate for Ms. Baum of 20%, a gross alimony payment of \$2,900 would be required to meet Ms. Baum's post-tax need for alimony. Because that amount is in excess of Dr. Hayes' ability to pay, however, the trial court was within its discretion in capping his obligation at the \$2,475 per month he is demonstrably able to pay. (*See* R. 776, ¶ 18).

This award is not only firmly rooted in the law and the facts, but also is more than fair and equitable to Dr. Hayes, taking into account as required his actual earning capacity; Ms. Baum's substantially greater financial contributions during the parties' marriage; Ms. Baum's indisputably diminished ability to meet her own needs due to her disability; Ms. Baum's needs as the custodial parent; and the fact that the disparity in the share of Dr. Hayes' income between the parties will only increase after child support terminates. *See Howell v. Howell*, 806 P.2d 1209 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Having failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's Supplemental Findings, and having failed to show that the Supplemental Findings are so contrary to the evidence as to leave this Court with "a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made," Dr. Hayes argues that the trial court's decision should nevertheless be reversed, and the original decision reinstated, based on the "law of the case" doctrine and the "mandate rule." (Appellant's Brief, pp. 12 - 16). Ms. Baum respectfully submits that Dr. Hayes' arguments are both factually and legally incorrect.

Dr. Hayes' arguments are factually incorrect because the trial court's detailed supplemental findings do in fact demonstrate that its prior alimony and child support

award were clearly erroneous, and they clearly conform to this Court's mandate. What the trial court did on remand was consider the pleadings submitted by the parties following remittitur; review the entire record in light of this Court's instructions on remand; and apply the appropriate analytical framework, taking into account as required Ms. Baum's demonstrated and indeed undisputed needs of \$3,175 per month after taxes and Dr. Hayes' actual, historical earnings as a means of identifying his ability to pay of at least \$2,475 per month after taxes and after his own reasonable expenses. (*See* R. 772-78).

Based on its analysis, the trial court properly concluded that an award of \$1,200 a month in alimony was inadequate, unfair, and unjust to Ms. Baum, and that child support based on an amount lower than Dr. Hayes had demonstrated he was historically capable of earning was also inadequate, unfair, and unjust to Ruby. Indeed, Ms. Baum demonstrated that the trial court's prior ruling was in fact clearly erroneous, citing the analogous precedent of *Howell v. Howell*, where this Court noted the clear error in an alimony award that left a husband with the overwhelming majority of his gross income and wife with a disproportionately smaller share – an imbalance that would only become worse when, as has occurred here, child support terminated – as well as the precedent of *Richardson v. Richardson*, 2007 UT App 222 (Memorandum Decision), where this Court upheld a trial court's incrementally increasing alimony at the end of a long-term marriage as child support decreased. (R. 806, at p. 3 l. 19 – p. 7 l. 20). Based on these precedents, the trial court's conclusion is unassailable, particularly in light of Ms. Baum's

substantially greater financial contributions during the parties' marriage, Ms. Baum's now indisputably diminished ability to meet her own needs due to her disability, and Dr. Hayes' ability to continue working and increasing his income as he gains tenure and otherwise advances in the career Ms. Baum enabled him to enjoy.

Dr. Hayes' arguments are legally incorrect because they misapprehend and misapply both the "law of the case" doctrine and the "mandate rule." Contrary to Dr. Hayes' arguments, given the procedural posture and substantive issues in this case, neither the "law of the case doctrine" nor the "mandate rule" serves here to limit the trial court's discretion on remand to reach different conclusions based on additional findings.

Dr. Hayes relies principally on the case of *In re E.H.*, 2006 UT 36, 137 P.3d 809, for his "law of the case" argument. That case involved, among other important issues, a second trial judge's decision (not on remand, but at a later stage of pre-appeal trial court proceedings) to reverse the first trial judge's order approving a stipulation, the central feature of which was an agreed-upon procedure to determine what custodial arrangement was in the best interests of a minor child in an otherwise contentious custody proceeding. *Id.*, 2006 UT 36, ¶¶ 9, 12. After the agreed-upon procedure resulted in a determination that custody should be granted to the child's mother rather than the putative adoptive parents, the adoptive parents, having previously agreed that the determination would be binding, changed their mind and sought to circumvent the stipulation. *Id.*, ¶¶ 11-13. When the mother appealed, this Court determined that the second judge improperly set aside the parties' stipulation. *Id.*, ¶ 15.

After an extended discussion of the “law of the case” doctrine, the Utah Supreme Court concluded simply that this Court had “misapprehended” the application of that doctrine to the second judge’s rejection of the parties’ stipulation, and in doing so made it clear that “considerations of law of the case must yield to those of the substance of the underlying ruling when ascertaining the proper standard of review.” *Id.*, ¶ 33. Having so found, the Supreme Court analyzed “the substance of the underlying ruling,” determined that it comprised a legal error, and applied a correctness standard of review. *Id.*, ¶ 34.

Dr. Hayes’ discussion of the “law of the case” doctrine ironically is not only characterized by the very analytical flaws the Supreme Court warned against in *In re E.H.*, but also compounds those flaws by suggesting that, following appeal, reversal and remand by this Court, the trial court’s discretion was severely limited. As the Utah Supreme Court has explained, “whether a trial court has discretion to reconsider a prior decision it has made” depends on “the procedural posture of a case at the time the law of the case doctrine is invoked.” *IHC Health Servs., Inc. v. D & K Management, Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 27. Application of the “law of the case” in this context does not bind the trial court on remand to a previous ruling the appellate court has expressly instructed it to reconsider. Were this the case, the reversal and remand would be a futile and worthless exercise.

The procedural posture of this case when presented to the second trial court judge was that it had been *reversed* and *remanded* “for more detailed findings *without*

restriction to any corrections or modifications the trial court deems appropriate.” *Baum v. Hayes*, 2008 UT App 371, ¶ 16 (emphasis added). Dr. Hayes chose to simply ignore the procedural posture and insist the second trial judge could do nothing but bolster its original conclusion. That is contrary to the Supreme Court’s core teaching in *In re E.H.*: where the trial court retains the ultimate discretion and is “entitled to exercise considerable latitude” in crafting an appropriate resolution of matters within that discretion, which indisputably include ascertaining a wife’s needs and a husband’s ability to pay. It would be inappropriate to unduly constrain that discretion on remand. *In re E.H.*, 2006 UT 36, ¶ 37 (concluding this Court “reached too far when it reinstated the stipulation and the order of the first judge that gave it legal effect.”).

Dr. Hayes’ “mandate rule” argument is even less persuasive in light of the key language in this Court’s remand that he chose and continues now to ignore. It is difficult to see how the trial court’s supplemental findings, which indisputably provide more detail than its original findings, and its modification of the alimony and child support awards, which are fully consistent with those supplemental findings, run afoul of this Court’s open-ended mandate. Indeed, it appears the only way the “mandate rule” could apply here is if this Court had itself specifically endorsed the first trial court’s findings and conclusions – something this Court manifestly did not do. Perhaps this is why Dr. Hayes utterly fails to provide any meaningful analysis, in his roughly one-page discussion, of how the “mandate rule” might apply here. This Court clearly understood that the issue of including or excluding Dr. Hayes’ Walden income could be resolved in

favor of *either* party on remand and thus empowered the trial court with significant discretion on remand. *Baum v. Hayes*, 2008 UT App 371, ¶ 16 (“each of the party’s arguments may have merit depending on the reason the trial court excluded Hayes’ additional income.”).

To the extent Dr. Hayes suggests the trial court’s supplemental findings do not comply with the “mandate rule” because they remain insufficient, two points should be made.

First, that suggestion is inconsistent with the relief Dr. Hayes seeks, which is that this court “vacate the second trial court’s findings and conclusions and reinstate the first trial court’s findings and conclusions of law.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 16). If the findings were still insufficient, which they are not, the appropriate relief would be to remand again.

Second, a trial court’s obligation is to make sufficiently detailed findings on each relevant factor to enable a reviewing court to ensure that the trial court’s discretionary determination was rationally based upon the applicable factors. *See Smith v. Smith*, 726 P.2d 423, 426 (Utah 1986) (appellate courts must ensure the decree “follows logically from, and is supported by, the evidence.”); *Williamson v. Williamson*, 1999 UT App 219, ¶ 9 (trial court’s findings “should be more than cursory statements; they must be sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached”). Dr. Hayes does not address this standard; the trial court’s Supplemental Findings satisfy it.

In short, in this case as in *In re E.H.*, irrespective of the “law of the case” doctrine or the “mandate rule,” the only question properly before this Court on Dr. Hayes’ appeal is whether the trial court’s Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law show that its modifications to its original alimony and child support determinations are supported by the evidence, or on the other hand are so inadequate or contrary to the evidence as to manifest an abuse of discretion. Because the trial court did what it was asked to do on remand, applied the proper analytical framework and made supplemental findings necessary to reach a reasoned determination of alimony and child support based on the evidence, its decision is correct and should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REVISED ITS ALIMONY RULING AS TO DR. HAYES’ ABILITY TO PAY BASED ON HIS HISTORICAL EARNINGS AND UNDISPUTED CONTINUING ASSOCIATION WITH WALDEN UNIVERSITY.

Established Utah law requires that in determining alimony the trial court consider income from *all* sources, including “overtime, *second job*, self-employment, etc.” *Breinholt v. Breinholt*, 905 P.2d 877, 880-81 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (emphasis added) (internal quotations and citation omitted). To the extent one has attained a level of income from various sources in the past, but chooses not to do so during the pendency of a divorce proceeding, he is voluntarily underemployed, and the trial court can properly impute to him future earnings based on his past earnings. *See Cox v. Cox*, 877 P.2d 1262, 1267-68 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (court can “appropriately rel[y] on historical rather than income at the time of divorce”). If his “income later proves to be ‘seriously and

permanently diminished,’ that party may seek a modification.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

In this case, the undisputed evidence showed Dr. Hayes made \$91,000 in 2005 and \$96,000 in 2006. (*See* Exhibit 25; *see also* R. 592, at 65:2-5). This income came not only from his main teaching job, supplemented through summer courses (as the trial court found), but also through on-line teaching for Walden University. (*Id.*) Dr. Hayes speculated he might not be able to continue the work he has done for Walden University in the past, but he offered no conflict letter or any other evidence to support his position, nor did he offer any reason or evidence he cannot continue to work in *some* capacity to replace the income he previously obtained from Walden University while he is teaching full time.

Dr. Hayes argues that the trial court “did not consider the required factors in determining alimony as was mandated by the appellate court,” but instead “focused on the Appellant’s expenses” and improperly considered the undisputed evidence of his continuing employment by Walden University notwithstanding his self-serving speculation at trial that he would not be able to continue that affiliation. (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 16-18).

The argument that the trial court did not consider the required *Jones* factors is spurious, since the trial court’s Supplemental Findings demonstrably and expressly *do* consider the required factors, under the specific headings of “Petitioner’s Needs” and “Respondent’s Ability to Pay.” The argument that the trial court improperly considered

Dr. Hayes' lifestyle and expenses is similarly groundless, since Appellant's expenses *must* be considered as part of his ability to pay. *See Young v. Young*, 2009 UT App 3, ¶ 19, 201 P.3d 301, *cert. denied*, 211 P.3d 986 (Utah 2009) ("adequate analysis of the factor regarding ability to pay must do more than simply state the payor spouse's income." The court must also consider the payor spouse's "needs and expenditures, such as housing, payment of debts, and other living expenses.") (emphasis and internal quotation marks omitted) (citation omitted).

As for Dr. Hayes' argument that the trial court improperly considered evidence of his continuing employment by Walden University, it is worth noting again that this Court provided the trial court a broad mandate to make additional findings as to whether Dr. Hayes' historical income should be excluded. Following remittitur, Ms. Baum provided the evidence of Dr. Hayes' continuing employment with Walden University. Dr. Hayes did not dispute, and has not to this day disputed, either that evidence or the fact of his continuing employment.

Ms. Baum was fully prepared to produce even more evidence, specifically stating in her post-remittitur filings: "If this Court believes it is necessary or appropriate to conduct a further evidentiary hearing on the specific issues of Petitioner's needs and Respondent's ability to pay, since a different Judge presided at the original trial, Petitioner will of course participate and provide such information as may be helpful to the Court in fulfilling its duty to reach a fair and equitable result." (R. 715).

Dr. Hayes did not object to any specific evidence or offer any of his own. Instead, he took the position that no further proceedings or evidence was necessary because no different outcome could be reached. (R. 806, p. 22 ll. 3-20, arguing “the clock stopped in March 2007” at the time of trial; *id.*, p. 24 l. 24 – p. 25 l. 5, arguing the second judge was “locked into” making additional findings that supported the first judge’s decision). Only now does Dr. Hayes belatedly argue, for the first time on appeal, that the trial court should not have considered this specific evidence that is directly contrary to his unsupported speculation at trial.

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